FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/30/2018 8:56 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 96468-8 COURT OF APPEALS NO. 77180-9-I

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

٧.

EMANUEL DEMELVIN FAIR, aka ANTHONY P. PARKER

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

BRIAN M. McDONALD ERIN EHLERT Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorneys Attorneys for Petitioner

> King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 Third Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 296-9000

C.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE		
	1.	FACTS OF THE CRIME2	
	2.	PROCEDURAL FACTS7	
D.	REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 11		
	1.	THE COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION IS INTERNALLY INCONSISTENT AND CONFLICTS WITH SETTLED CASE LAW GOVERNING CLOSING ARGUMENT	
	2.	THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED BY HOLDING THAT THE JURY SHOULD NOT BE INSTRUCTED ON THE LAW OF ACCOMPLICE LIABILITY 15	
E.	CON	<u>CLUSION</u> 19	

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

	Page			
Table of Cases	, ago			
Washington State:				
<u>In re Phelps</u> , 190 Wn.2d 155, 410 P.3d 1142 (2018)	12			
State v. Fair, No. 77180-9-I, slip op. (Wa.Ct.App. Div. I, filed October 8, 2018)	. 1, 10			
<u>State v. Redmond</u> , 150 Wn.2d 489, 78 P.3d 1001 (2003)	17			
<u>State v. Walker</u> , 182 Wn.2d 463, 341 P.3d 976, <u>cert. denied</u> , 135 S. Ct. 2844 (2015)	17			
<u>State v. Williams</u> , 132 Wn.2d 248, 937 P.2d 1052 (1997)	17			
Statutes				
Washington State:				
RCW 9A.08.020	17			
Rules and Regulations				
Washington State:				
RAP 13.4	18, 19			

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The State of Washington seeks review of the published opinion filed in <u>State v. Fair</u>, No. 77180-9-I, slip op. (Wa.Ct.App. Div. I, filed October 8, 2018). Appendix A.

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. In a murder prosecution where investigators could not determine whether the crime was committed by one or by more than one person, did the Court of Appeals err by prohibiting the prosecution from arguing that evidence of a second suspect's possible involvement did not necessarily exonerate the defendant, because the second suspect could have assisted the defendant in committing the crime.
- 2. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in holding that the jury should not be instructed on accomplice liability even though the defense has argued, and will argue, that any evidence of another person's involvement in the crime is, per se, a reasonable doubt that the defendant committed the murder.

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. FACTS OF THE CRIME

Arpana Jinaga lived alone in an apartment at the Valley View Apartments in Redmond, Washington. RP(2/14/17) 322-26. On October 31, 2008, she and several other tenants hosted a Halloween party, attended by residents of the apartment complex and their relatives and friends. <u>Id.</u> at 374-77.

One person attending the party was defendant Emanuel Fair. At the time, he was staying in the apartment of Leslie Potts. RP(2/21/17) 571-74. Potts had not known Fair for long and only spent time with him on a few occasions. <u>Id.</u> at 573.

Neighbor Cameron Johnson showed up to the party late.

RP(2/14/17) 400-02. He appeared to be drunk and brought some bottles of liquor to Jinaga's apartment. RP(2/15/17) 447-48.

The party lasted until the early hours of the following morning, Saturday, November 1, 2008. Around 2:30 a.m., Fair and Johnson went to Johnson's apartment and then down to Johnson's car to listen to music.¹ The police could not find any witness who saw Fair after he spent time with Cameron Johnson. RP(3/21/17) 521-22.

¹ RP(3/21/17) 495-97; RP(3/22/17) 696-97; Ex. 151 at 7-13, 39; Ex. 158 at 2.

At approximately 3:00 a.m., a few remaining partygoers, including Jinaga, retired to a first-floor apartment. RP(2/15/17) 488-90. Jinaga later left and was never seen again. <u>Id.</u> at 493.

At approximately 8:00 a.m., Jinaga's next-door neighbor, Kyle Rose, was awakened by sounds coming from her apartment. RP(2/27/17) 494-97. He heard "a horrible growling" which persisted for about twenty seconds until he heard a thud. Id. After the sound stopped, Rose then heard steps and the sound of running water, which persisted for as long as an hour. Id.

On Monday, November 3, 2008, after Jinaga's family in India had not heard from her for several days, Jay Bodicherla, a family friend, went to her apartment complex. RP(2/14/17) 322-30. Cameron Johnson was nearby, and he directed Bodicherla to Jinaga's apartment. <u>Id.</u> at 330-34. The two men entered the apartment together and discovered Jinaga's nude body, partially covered with a cloth, face down on the carpet in her bedroom. <u>Id.</u> at 332-36.

Jinaga had been strangled to death, her teeth were broken and there were numerous blunt-force injuries to her head.

RP(2/23/17) 216-49, 257. She had been gagged with her

underpants and duct tape was used to hold the gag in place.² There was evidence of a sexual assault. <u>Id.</u> at 246-47.

Jinaga's body was coated with oil. RP(2/21/17) 646. Her hands had been doused with a blue liquid. RP(3/2/17) 995, 1008-09. A distinct odor of bleach was in the air, and bleach stains were on the carpet throughout the apartment. RP(2/16/17) 75; RP(3/2/17) 994-95. Jinaga's bed had been stripped of coverings, a fleece blanket had been partially burned and a comforter was soaking in the bathtub. RP(3/2/17) 1026-30, 1088.

The police found more evidence in a dumpster in the apartment complex's parking lot: Jinaga's Halloween costume and a plastic bag that contained both her bloodstained bathrobe and a bottle of motor oil. RP(2/22/17) 119, 157-58; Ex. 148.

The morning that Jinaga's body was found, a detective contacted Leslie Potts at her apartment. RP(2/21/17) 604; RP(3/1/17) 874-76. Potts falsely told the detective that she was alone even though Fair was inside. RP(2/21/17) 604; RP(3/1/17) 874-76. Fair later left her apartment that night when it was dark. RP(2/21/17) 605.

² RP(2/28/17) 587-607; RP(3/2/17) 978-91; RP(3/6/17) 1216-45.

Detectives attempted to identify and interview everyone who attended the party. RP(2/23/17) 317-18; RP(3/1/17) 877-78. Fair appeared in a number of the Halloween party photographs, but he was not immediately identified. RP(2/23/17) 318. Potts claimed that she did not know his full name and referred to him as "E" and "Emanuel." RP(2/23/17) 318-19; RP(3/1/17) 879-80.

The initial investigation focused on Cameron Johnson,

Jinaga's neighbor. Johnson engaged in a number of suspicious
activities after the murder. His phone records revealed that he had
called Jinaga at 3:00 a.m. on the night of the murder, but he stated
he did not remember making the calls.³ RP(2/22/17) 108-09, 149.

Johnson volunteered to detectives that he had driven to Canada on
the day after the Halloween party and that he had been denied
entry. Id. at 151.

A large amount of evidence was sent to the Washington State Patrol Crime Laboratory ("WSPCL") for DNA analysis. The police had obtained 23 DNA reference samples from persons who had attended the Halloween party. RP(2/21/17) 667; RP(3/1/17) 904; RP(3/6/17) 1102. By November 21, 2008, detectives had

³ Johnson's calls to Jinaga were made shortly after Fair and Johnson had gone to Johnson' apartment and used a computer music program "Fruity Loops." Ex. 151 at 7-13, 39; RP(3/1/17) 789-808; RP(3/21/17) 495-97.

finally identified Fair and obtained a DNA sample from him. RP(3/16/17) 96.

At the end of January 2009, WSPCL reported that Fair's DNA profile was found on (1) Jinaga's bloodstained bathrobe discarded in the dumpster, and (2) several sheets of toilet paper found in Jinaga's bedroom.⁴ Subsequent DNA analysis established that (1) Fair's DNA was on the duct tape used to gag Jinaga, and (2) Fair's Y-STR DNA profile was on a swab of Jinaga's neck at her autopsy.⁵

In addition, Cameron Johnson's DNA was the primary profile found on the oil bottle found in the bag with the red robe.

RP(3/6/17) 1196-97. Other than Fair and Johnson, none of the DNA profiles taken from party-goers appeared on evidence associated with the murder.

In an interview with police, Fair stated that he spent time with Cameron Johnson at the party and that he and Johnson went to Johnson's apartment and then down to Johnson's car to listen to music. Ex. 151 at 7-13, 39. The police could not find any witness

⁴ RP(3/6/17) 1152-66,1248-50; RP(3/8/17) 1566-70; RP(3/27/17) 804-07.

⁵ RP(2/22/17) 281-89; RP(3/6/17) 1140-42, 1217-24; RP(3/8/17) 1571; RP(3/13/17) 1629-41; RP(3/21/17) 529; RP(3/27/17) 798-99.

who saw Fair after he spent time with Cameron Johnson. RP(3/21/17) 521-22.

Fair also claimed that on the night of the Halloween party, he had retired to Potts' apartment at approximately 1:30 or 2:00 a.m., and that he stayed there the rest of the night. Ex. 151 at 5-6, 29-30, 38. However, Fair's cell phone records revealed that he was awake and making many phone calls between 2:00 a.m. and 5:00 a.m.; during a time that he was with Johnson and when Johnson was also making calls. RP(2/22/17) 108-09; RP(3/16/17) 37-56; Ex. 133. Fair made multiple calls to Leslie Potts, at the same time he claimed to be with her in her apartment. RP(3/16/17) 48; RP(3/21/17) 520; Ex. 133.

2. PROCEDURAL FACTS

The State charged Fair with one count of first-degree murder with a sexual motivation allegation. CP 1-2. Prior to trial, the State agreed that evidence relating to Cameron Johnson's possible involvement in the murder was admissible, explaining, "the State's position is that Johnson may have participated in the crime with Fair and that evidence implicating Johnson does not exculpate Fair.

Rather than an 'other suspect,' Johnson can also be characterized as an uncharged accomplice." CP 97.

However, before opening statement, the trial court granted the defense motion to prohibit the State from discussing the possibility that Fair and Johnson committed the crime together. RP(2/1/17) 15-16. After the prosecutor's opening statement, the defense moved for a mistrial, claiming that the prosecutor violated this ruling when discussing facts that linked Fair and Johnson. RP(2/14/17) 285. The court denied the motion, observing the prosecutor's statement of the facts was accurate. Id. at 286.

Prior to closing argument, the defense moved to prohibit the State from arguing that Johnson may have acted as an accomplice and opposed the giving of an accomplice instruction. The defense insisted that "it's about whether they have proven their case against one person to the exclusion of everybody else." RP(4/4/17) 95 (italics added).

The State stated that its position was that Fair was the principal in the murder and that any prohibition on arguing that Johnson may have been involved resulted in a false binary choice: that either Fair or Johnson committed the crime. Id. at 48, 78-79. The prosecutor asked that the State be allowed to argue that the

evidence implicating Johnson did not necessarily exculpate Fair. ld. at 80.

The trial court ruled that an accomplice instruction would not be given, holding there was insufficient evidence that linked Fair and Johnson. <u>Id.</u> at 76. The trial court further prohibited the State from arguing that Fair and Johnson could have committed the murder together. <u>Id.</u> at 76-77.

During closing argument, the defense argued to the jury that any evidence of Cameron Johnson's involvement in the murder was, per se, reasonable doubt that Fair committed the crime.

RP(4/6/17) 1252-93.

Shortly after deliberations began, the jury sent out an inquiry about accomplice liability. They asked: "Is it a reasonable doubt if there is a second person involved in the act?" CP 206; RP(4/11/17) 1369-70. The trial court did not answer the question and instructed the jury to re-read their instructions. CP 207. The jury later reported that it was unable to reach a unanimous verdict, and the court declared a mistrial. CP 208-09.

In anticipation of the second trial, the State asked the court to revise its ruling, instruct on the law of complicity, and remove the restrictions it had placed on the State's argument. CP 240-49. The

defense opposed any change in the ruling, but also noted that, according to their polling of the jury, at least five jurors thought Fair and Johnson committed the murder together. CP 250-54. The trial court denied the motion, though it acknowledged that the jury had recognized on its own that Johnson and Fair may have acted together. RP(7/7/17) 29-32; CP 270.

On August 18, 2017, the Court of Appeals granted discretionary review. In an unpublished decision, the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's decision to not provide an accomplice instruction, holding there was insufficient evidence.

State v. Fair, No. 77180-9-I, slip op. at *3-4 (Wa.Ct.App. Div. I, filed October 8, 2018). The Court further upheld the restrictions on the State closing argument, holding "it was proper for the trial court to prohibit the State from arguing accomplice liability." Id. at *5.

However, the Court of Appeals opined that the trial court's restrictions "went too far" and held that "[t]he State must be allowed latitude to rebut the defense argument. The State may argue that the evidence of Johnson's guilt does not preclude a finding of Fair's guilt, so long as the State does not assert that the two were accomplices." Id.

The Court of Appeals' opinion does not explain how evidence of Johnson's guilt would not preclude a finding of Fair's guilt, other than the possibility that the two men were both involved in the murder.

The State now seeks review.

D. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

The trial court in this case issued a two-pronged ruling that both deprived prosecutors of a legitimate argument – that evidence of Cameron Johnson's complicity does not exonerate Fair – and that deprived the jury of the means to understand that argument through an instruction regarding the law of complicity. The Court of Appeals' decision recognizes that the restriction on the prosecutor's argument was error, but its opinion fails to correct that error. The decision conflicts with settled law and is of substantial public interest.

1. THE COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION IS INTERNALLY INCONSISTENT AND CONFLICTS WITH SETTLED CASE LAW GOVERNING CLOSING ARGUMENT.

This Court has repeatedly recognized that "prosecutors have wide latitude to argue reasonable inferences from the evidence"

and "are free to argue their characterization of the facts presented at trial and what inferences these facts suggest in closing argument." In re Phelps, 190 Wn.2d 155, 166-67, 410 P.3d 1142 (2018). The Court of Appeals' opinion below is inconsistent with this settled law and imposes crippling restrictions on the State's closing argument. In effect, the court's holding requires the State to prove that Fair committed the murder alone and that no one else assisted him in the crime. At the first trial, the defense repeatedly argued that any evidence of anyone else's involvement in the crime was a reasonable doubt that Fair committed the murder.

RP(4/6/17) 1252-93. This theme was repeated again and again.

This argument would be appropriate if there was evidence that a <u>single</u> person committed the murder. For example, in a case where witnesses reported that a single person shot and killed a victim, evidence that the shooter was someone else could raise a reasonable doubt as to the defendant's guilt.

However, in this case, Arpana Jinaga was brutally killed in the privacy of her own apartment over an uncertain period of time.

She was restrained and assaulted. There were no witnesses to this murder. There was DNA evidence from two people – Fair and

Johnson – on items associated with the victim. Investigators could not determine whether one or two individuals were involved in the murder. RP(2/21/17) 655. Even the defense admitted multiple persons could have been involved in her death. CP 257. Under such circumstances, two individuals might each be complicit in her death.

The Court of Appeals recognized that the trial court unfairly restricted the State's ability to respond to the repeated defense arguments that evidence of Johnson's involvement was a reasonable doubt that Fair committed the murder. Yet the appellate court's attempt to correct the trial court's ruling is internally inconsistent, ineffectual, and conflicts with well-settled law. The Court of Appeals held that, "[t]he State may argue that the evidence of Johnson's guilt does not preclude a finding of Fair's guilt, so long as the State does not assert that the two were accomplices." Slip op. at *5.

However, evidence that Johnson committed the murder would, in fact, exonerate Fair *unless* another person was complicit

⁶ The State has not asked either the trial court or the Court of Appeals to prohibit the defense from making this argument. Rather, it has simply asked for the latitude to fairly respond in light of settled law regarding accomplice liability.

in committing the crime. Where there is evidence that two people participated in the crime, evidence that a second person participated simply does not exonerate the other. Therefore, under the Court of Appeals' opinion, while the prosecutor can say, "evidence of Johnson's guilt does not exonerate Fair," she cannot explain why that is so.

This restriction strips away the legal and theoretical underpinnings of the prosecutor's argument. It continues to force a binary choice on the jury: *either* Fair committed the murder *or*Johnson committed the murder. The possibility that Johnson assisted Fair, that the two committed the crime together, and the legal underpinnings for this possibility, is apparently *verboten*, although the jury will undoubtedly ponder this possibility, as it did before, because it is so obvious.⁷

The testimony at trial established that Fair and Johnson were alone together at the end of the night, and no one saw them again. Both men's DNA was found on several incriminating items

⁷ During the first trial, the prosecutor's simple act of recounting the basic facts about Johnson and Fair led the defense to move for a mistrial, claiming it ran afoul of the court's prohibition suggesting they committed the crime together. RP(2/14/17) 285-86. The trial court denied the motion, noting the facts recounted were accurate. <u>Id.</u> at 286.

in the same bag in a dumpster. Even with the restrictions at the first trial, the defense later reported that, according to their polling of the jury, at least five jurors thought Fair and Johnson committed the murder together. CP 253-54.

The Court of Appeals' ruling erroneously permits the defense to mislead the jury into believing that evidence that two people committed a crime necessarily means that one of them must be acquitted. This restriction has the effect of adding another element to the State's burden of proof: that Fair acted alone in committing the murder. This is not required under the law for good reason: the fact that there is not sufficient evidence to charge an accomplice should not and does not require the State to prove the principal committed the crime alone. This Court should accept review to correct this error.

2. THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED BY HOLDING THAT THE JURY SHOULD NOT BE INSTRUCTED ON THE LAW OF ACCOMPLICE LIABILITY.

The State has argued and will continue to argue that Fair is the principal in the murder. Ms. Jinaga was strangled, and Fair's DNA was found on her neck. His DNA is on the duct tape that was used to gag her. His DNA is mixed with her blood on her bathrobe.

However, given the defense arguments based on evidence that Johnson may also have been involved in the crime, the jury should have been instructed on the law governing complicity. They were not instructed about it at the first trial, and their first question to the court was about accomplice liability. They asked: "Is it a reasonable doubt if there is a second person involved in the act?" CP 206; RP(4/11/17) 1369-70. This question from the jury was not surprising given that defense counsel repeatedly argued that evidence of anyone else's involvement was, per se, a reasonable doubt that Fair committed the murder.

In considering the evidence presented at trial, the jury did not ask whether it is a reasonable doubt if a *different* person was involved in the crime. Such a question would indicate that the jurors believed someone *other than* Fair committed the murder. Rather, the jury asked whether it is a reasonable doubt that a *second* person was involved in the crime, which is the argument that the defense made to the jury in closing argument and which the State was not permitted to rebut.

The answer to this question is plainly "no." Certainly under the facts of this case, evidence that a *second* person may be involved in the crime does not necessarily create a reasonable

doubt as to the guilt of the *first* person, as long as the jury is convinced that the first person committed the elements of the crime. The law of accomplice liability recognizes more than one person can be involved in a crime and that both persons do not need to be charged. A person may be convicted of murder even if another participant has never been charged, <u>State v. Walker</u>, 182 Wn.2d 463, 481-84, 341 P.3d 976, <u>cert. denied</u>, 135 S. Ct. 2844 (2015), or if the co-participant has been acquitted or convicted of a different crime. RCW 9A.08.020(6).

The only way for the jury to understand this point would be through instructions of law submitted by the court. Washington courts have repeatedly recognized that, "Parties are entitled to instructions that, when taken as a whole, properly instruct the jury on the applicable law, are not misleading, and allow each party the opportunity to argue their theory of the case." State v. Redmond, 150 Wn.2d 489, 493, 78 P.3d 1001 (2003). Each side is entitled to have the jury instructed on its theory of the case if there is evidence to support that theory. State v. Williams, 132 Wn.2d 248, 259, 937 P.2d 1052 (1997).

The Court of Appeals analyzed the issue of whether an accomplice instruction was appropriate as a sufficiency of the

evidence issue, i.e., whether there was sufficient evidence to convict Fair as an accomplice to Johnson. However, the State does not seek to convict Fair as an accomplice; the evidence is that he was a principal in the murder. RP(4/4/17) 79-80.

An accomplice instruction is appropriate in order for the jury to understand the defense and State arguments about Johnson.

The defense theory of the case – that evidence implicating Johnson is necessarily a reasonable doubt as to Fair's guilt – presumes a definition of accomplice liability that does not accord with the law.

The jury's question during deliberations demonstrates its confusion on this issue, and the next jury is equally likely to be confused. An instruction defining complicity does not require the defense to change any part of their argument, but it will permit the jury to assess defense counsel's arguments in light of the law, rather than simply accept or reject their arguments based on mere assertion.

The Court of Appeals erred when it held such an instruction should not be given and this ruling unfairly limits the State's ability to respond to a defense argument that is misleading and an unfair statement of the law. The decision undermines a central tenet of complicity law in Washington and conflicts with numerous holdings of this Court, making review appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(1). To

the extent this decision undermines settled law and undercuts the ability of the State to separately prosecute co-participants in serious rapes and murders, the decision is a matter of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court, making review appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

E. CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, and to prevent a second jury from being unable to decide this case because they are not being provided the law that would inform their deliberations, this Court should grant review.