FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
11/29/2018 3:51 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 96468-8 (COA No. 77180-9-I)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

EMANUEL FAIR,

Respondent,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

NANCY P. COLLINS Attorney for Respondent

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

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

F. ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals relied on settled law to conclude there must be evidence of accomplice liability for a court to instruct the jury on the law of accomplice liability and for the prosecution to argue for conviction based on accomplice liability.

1. Settled law governs when a court may instruct the jury on accomplice liability.

The prosecution concedes there was no evidence Mr. Fair is guilty as an accomplice, yet it protests the court's refusal to instruct the jury on the law governing accomplice liability. As the Court of Appeals ruled, no case law supports the notion that an accomplice liability instruction is warranted when there is insufficient evidence of complicity predicated on accomplice liability. Slip op. at 9.

For a person to be liable as an accomplice, a person must aid, agree to aid, solicit, command, or encourage a person to commit the charged crime while knowing that it will promote or facilitate the crime. RCW 9A.08.030. A person is not an accomplice by aiding *any* crime. *State v. Cronin*, 142 Wn.2d 568, 578-79, 14 P.3d 752 (2000).

The person must have acted with knowledge that his conduct would promote or facilitate the crime charged. *Id*.

The State must establish that an accomplice "actually knew that he was promoting or facilitating" the charged crime. *State v. Allen*, 182 Wn.2d 364, 374, 341 P.3d 268 (2015) (emphasis in original).

Accomplice liability may not rest on speculation about what someone should have known. *Id*.

Being present at the scene of a crime is insufficient to prove accomplice liability, even if the person's presence "bolsters" or "gives support" to the perpetrator. *In re Wilson*, 91 Wn.2d 497, 491-92, 588 P.2d 1161 (1979); *see also State v. Asaeli*, 150 Wn. App. 543, 568-69, 208 P.3d 1136 (2009) (insufficient evidence of accomplice liability for car driver who was "merely present at the scene with some knowledge of potential criminal activity").

"It is error to submit to the jury a theory for which there is insufficient evidence." *State v. Munden*, 81 Wn. App. 192, 195, 913 P.2d 421 (1996). Speculation about potential criminal culpability is not a basis for a jury instruction. "[S]ome evidence must be presented affirmatively to establish" the theory for which a jury instruction is sought. *State v. Rodriguez*, 48 Wn. App. 815, 820, 740 P.2d 904 (1987),

quoting *State v. Wheeler*, 22 Wn. App. 792, 797, 593 P.2d 550 (1979). A party is entitled to an instruction on its theory of the case only "if there is evidence to support that theory." *State v. Theroff*, 95 Wn.2d 385, 389, 622 P.2d 1240 (1980); *see also Young v. Grp. Health Co-op. of Puget Sound*, 85 Wn.2d 332, 339, 534 P.2d 1349 (1975) ("jury instructions can encompass only those theories of liability which are supported by substantial evidence").

There is no dispute here that the evidence does not support accomplice liability. The prosecution does not allege Mr. Fair should be convicted as an accomplice. 4/4 RP 48. It concedes it had "no evidence" that "Fair was just an accomplice." *Id.* at 80. It also has no evidence anyone else served as an accomplice.

The trial court correctly ruled, "there has to be some evidence" supporting the particular elements of accomplice liability in order to give an instruction on this theory of culpability. 4/4 RP 76. The judge explained, "we don't have any evidence that links the two of them," as needed for accomplice liability. 4/4 RP 76. There was no evidence "whatsoever" showing Mr. Fair acted with Mr. Johnson. *Id.* "It's pure speculation that they were doing this together," and the evidence

showed "no connection between the two of them that would justify the giving of an accomplice instruction." *Id*.

The Court of Appeals appropriately affirmed the trial court's ruling that the evidence did not justify an accomplice liability instruction.

2. Settled law bars the prosecution from seeking a conviction on an unavailable theory of legal liability or purely speculative scenarios.

It has long been the case that the prosecution may not urge jurors to consider accomplice liability when the jury is not instructed on this doctrine. *State v. Davenport*, 100 Wn.2d 757, 760-61, 763, 675 P.2d 1213 (1984). The prosecution must confine its arguments to "the law as set forth in the instructions given to the court." *Id.* at 760. The State does not address *Davenport* in its petition.

The prosecution is never permitted to encourage the jury to convict a person based on speculation. Evidence of criminal liability must not rest on speculation, surmise or conjecture. *State v. Vasquez*, 178 Wn.2d 1, 16, 309 P.3d 318 (2013); *State v. Hummel*, 196 Wn. App. 329, 282 P.3d 592 (2016), *rev. denied*, 187 Wn.2d 1021 (2017).

In any case, the prosecution "must function within boundaries" during closing argument. *State v. Monday*, 171 Wn.2d 667, 676, 257

P.3d 551 (2011). Its duties include "insuring that an accused receives a fair trial." *State v. Boehing*, 127 Wn. App. 511, 517, 111 P.3d 899 (2005). It is proper for the prosecution to analyze the evidence presented, but improper to encourage jurors to speculate about matters not in evidence or legal criteria that are not part of its burden of proof. *Id.*; *see State v. Pierce*, 169 Wn. App. 533, 553, 280 P.3d 1158 (2012) (reversible error to urge jury to decide case based on speculation about events outside the record); *Boehning*, 127 Wn. App. at 521-22 (prosecutor's explanations about why charges were dismissed mid-trial irrelevant and impermissible).

The only case the prosecution cites in its petition for review regarding its desire to use accomplice liability in its closing argument is *In re Pers. Restraint of Phelps*, 190 Wn.2d 155, 410 P.3d 1142 (2018), claiming this case shows prosecutors have wide latitude to argue their characterization of the facts presented and available inferences. Pet. at 12. *Phelps* is inapposite for several reasons. First, the issue in *Phelps* was the prosecutor's use of trial testimony to argue that the years the defendant spent building an intimate relationship with a teenager amounted to "grooming." 190 Wn.2d at 160, 167. This label was a factual descriptor of the evidence and not a basis of legal liability. *Id.* at

168. This distinction was critical for this Court because it showed the prosecutor was characterizing the evidence presented and not making arguments that were not supported by the evidence or inserting new legal theories not supported by the instructions. *Id.* at 168-69.

Second, the defendant waived his complaint about the State's grooming argument by never objecting. *Id.* at 166, 170. Third, as a personal restraint petition, the defendant did not meet the added "hurdle" of proving actual and substantial prejudice. *Id.* at 172. Three justices concurred, explaining the prosecutor's arguments were impermissible but the defendant had not satisfied the heightened actual and substantial prejudice necessary for relief in a PRP. *Id.* at 173 (Fairhurst, J., concurring). *Phelps* does not permit the State to inject a theory of culpability into the case in closing argument, especially when it is not supported by the facts and is objected to by the defense.

The prosecution's petition for review ambiguously claims Mr. Johnson could have been "involved" and asserts this amorphous involvement justifies an accomplice liability instruction and argument. But accomplice liability does not apply unless a person is an accomplice under RCW 9A.08.030. As this Court held in *Cronin*, "in for a dime, in for a dollar" is an inaccurate and fundamentally

misleading argument for the prosecution to make in the context of potential accomplices. 142 Wn.2d at 581. It is reversible error to encourage the jurors to believe accomplice liability may rest on amorphous involvement. *Id*.

Mr. Fair objected to the prosecutor's efforts to characterize evidence implicating other people as perpetrators of the crime as akin to accomplice liability. The court appropriately ruled that the prosecution may not urge jurors to consider other suspects to be accomplices when no evidence supported that assertion. The Court of Appeals properly affirmed the trial court's ruling that directed the State not to use a legally unavailable claim of accomplice liability as a basis for urging a conviction in its argument.

3. The prosecution presents no basis for this Court's review under RAP 13.4(b).

Despite baldly repeating that the Court of Appeals decision "conflicts with settled law," the prosecution never follows this claim by citing conflicting cases. Pet. at 11, 13, 18, 19. The entire petition for review only cites four cases, and only briefly notes these cases for general propositions. Its failure to articulate a conflict shows the flimsy

nature of the petition and the lack of grounds to review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2).

The petition for review also asserts there is substantial public interest in granting review but the only "interest" it describes is its own desire to prosecute Mr. Fair. Pet. at 19. The prosecution's inability to muster a legal conflict or a valid significant and public interest demonstrates the unpublished decision does not meet the criteria for review under RAP 13.4(b).

4. The petition misleads this Court about the facts of the case.

The petition distorts the record to overstate the potential for accomplice liability and misleads this Court about the nature of the evidence presented below. Its mischaracterizations of the record further undercut the merits of the petition for review.

For example, the petition insists "investigators" did not know if more than one person committed the crime. Pet. at 1, 13. But this claim comes from a single statement by the initial detective, who said he did not know how many people were involved. 2/21 RP 655. This detective retired shortly after Ms. Jinaga died, he had little experience with homicide investigations, and the bulk of the crime scene investigation occurred after his retirement. 2/21 RP 615-16, 697. The prosecution

takes this one statement out of context to grossly overstate the forensic value the speaker intended. The prosecution presented no evidence that more than one person knowingly aided another when committing the crime.

The petition similarly distorts the record by taking out of context a line in a defense motion to claim the defense agreed multiple people could have been involved in the murder. Pet. at 13, citing CP 257. But defense counsel's very next sentence said there is "absolutely no evidence" that more than one person committed the crime. CP 257.

It also mischaracterizes defense counsel's closing argument. The State incorrectly claims the defense argued "any evidence" of someone else's "involvement" necessarily made Mr. Fair not guilty. Pet. at 1, 9, 16, 18. But the defense argued the evidence showed someone else committed the murder. *See* 4/6 RP 1252 (evidence showing "someone else murdered Arpana, that's a reasonable doubt" of Mr. Fair's guilt). It told the jury its role was not to "figure out" what happened, as if reading a mystery novel, but to decide if the prosecution "proved beyond every reasonable doubt that Emanuel Fair murdered Arpana." *Id.* The prosecution's petition for review hinges on the falsehood that Mr. Fair misleadingly urged jurors to treat evidence of Mr. Johnson's

"involvement" as proof Mr. Fair could not be guilty. In fact, Mr. Fair appropriately argued that significant evidence showed Mr. Johnson, Mr. Gurtler, Mr. Lovett, or another person was the perpetrator, and this constitutes a reason to doubt Mr. Fair committed the crime.

In sum, the trial court was familiar with the evidence and appropriately resolved the pertinent jury instructions and scope of permissible arguments based on settled law. The Court of Appeals similarly rested its decision on longstanding legal principles. This Court should deny the petition for review.

G. CONCLUSION.

Respondent Emanuel Fair respectfully requests that the Court deny review.